IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CAUSE NO. 2009-KA-00290-COA

-

2

TOMMY JUNIOR McCRORY Appellant

vs.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI Appellee

APPEAL From the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLANT:

M. Judith Barnett (MSB # M. Judith Barnett, P.A. 1764 Lelia Drive Jackson, Mississippi 39216 Tel: (601) 981-4450 Fax: (601) 981-4717 mjbarnettpa@yahoo.com

1

1 1

έ.

έ.,

İ.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TOMMY JUNIOR McCRORY

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2009-KA-00290-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether there is sufficient evidence to prove that the circuit court of Rankin County, Mississippi had jurisdiction of the subject matter in this case as it pertains to C.M.
- II. Whether the charges and resulting conviction against Defendant regarding C.M. must be reversed since the alleged victim, C.M., was unable to identify McCrory as the alleged perpetrator.
- III. Whether allowing expert witness Brian Ervin to directly comment on the credibility and veracity of both C.M. and J.M. was reversible error.

,

E

ŧ

i

i

- IV. Whether allowing the hearsay testimony of Detective James Thompson was reversible error.
- V. Whether the trial court's finding that C.M. and J.M.'s statements to Ryan Miller bore substantial indicia of reliability is supported by substantial evidence and whether the trial court followed the proper procedure in its determination or abused its discretion in finding that C.M. and J.M.'s statements bore indicia of reliability and in admitting their statements through Ryan Miller pursuant to the tender years exception. Miss. R. Evid. 803(25).

-V-

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about May 7, 2007, Tommy Junior McCrory was indicted by the Grand Jury of

Rankin County, Mississippi of two counts of Sexual Battery, in a two count indictment which

alleged as follows:

ί,

÷

ł,

COUNT I

Tommy Junior McCrory, late of the county aforesaid, on, about and between, November 18, 2005 and January 8, 2007, in the county aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of this Court, the said defendant being a male human being above the age of seventeen (17) years, whose date of birth is November 25, 1983, did wiIlfully, unlawfully, and feloniously engage in sexual penetration, as defined by Mississippi Code Annotated §97-3-97, with C.M., a male child whose date of birth is November 18, 1998, by inserting his finger(s) into C.M.'s anal opening, at a time when Tommy Junior McCrory was more than twenty-four (24) months older than C.M., all occurring within the jurisdiction of this court and in violation of Section 97-3-95(1)(d), Mississippi Code Annotated (1972, as amended); and,

COUNT II

And, based upon a series of acts connected together and constituting parts of a common scheme and plan, Tommy Junior McCrory, late of the county aforesaid, on, about and between, November 18, 2005 and January 8, 2007, in the county aforesaid and within the jurisdiction of this Court, the said defendant being a male human being above the age of seventeen (17) years, whose date of birth is November 25, 1983, did willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously engage in sexual penetration, as defined by Mississippi Code Annotated §97-3-97, with J.M., a male child, whose date of birth is October 30, 1995, by inserting his finger(s) into J.M.'s anal opening, at a time when Tommy Junior McCrory was more than twenty-four (24) months older than J.M., all occurring within the jurisdiction of this court and in violation of Section 97-3-95(1)(d), Mississippi Code Annotated (1972, as amended).

On September 23, 2008, the cause came on for trial by jury in the Circuit Court of Rankin

County, Mississippi on the charges of two counts of Sexual Battery.

After a three day trial, the case was submitted to the jury for deliberations. (R. 442). At

the conclusion of their deliberations, the Jury reached a verdict on both counts of the Indictment

finding the Defendant, Tommy Junior McCrory, Guilty as to both Counts. (R. 443-444).

On October 3, 2008, Defendant filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the Alternative a New Trial and for Reasonable Bail Pending Appeal. (R. 82).

At a sentencing hearing on October 27, 2008, Tommy Junior McCrory was sentenced in Count I to serve a term of Thirty Five (35) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with Mr. McCrory being released after serving the first Thirty (30) years followed by placement on Five (5) years post-release supervision; as to Court II, Mr. McCrory was sentenced to serve a term of Thirty Five (35) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with Mr. McCrory being released after serving the first Thirty (30) years followed by placement on Five (5) years post-release supervision; as to Court II, Mr. McCrory was sentenced to serve a term of Thirty Five (35) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with Mr. McCrory being released after serving the first Thirty (30) years followed by placement on Five (5) years post-release supervision, with these sentences to run Concurrent. (R. 86-89, 466-467). Further, Mr. McCrory was ordered to pay court costs, fees and assessments in the amount of \$307.50. (R. 466-467).

On March 31, 1997, the Defendant's Renewed Motion for New Trial or in the Alternative Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict was denied.

On January 29, 2009, the Court entered and Order Denying Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the Alternative a New Trial and for Reasonable Bail Pending Appeal.

On or about February 10, 2009, Tommy Junior McCrory filed his Notice of Appeal herein.

ŧ.

FACTS

On or about May 7, 2007, Tommy Junior McCrory was indicted by the Grand Jury of Rankin County, Mississippi of two counts of Sexual Battery, in a two count indictment which alleged that on, about and between, November 18, 2005 and January 8, 2007, the said defendant being a male human being above the age of seventeen (17) years, whose date of birth is November 25, 1983, did willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously engage in sexual penetration, as defined by Mississippi Code Annotated §97-3-97, with C.M., a male child whose date of birth is November 18, 1998, and with J.M., a male child, whose date of birth is October 30, 1995, by inserting his finger(s) into C.M.'s anal opening and J.M.'s anal opening, at a time when Tommy Junior McCrory was more than twenty-four (24) months older than C.M. and J.M., in violation of Section 97-3-95(1)(d), Mississippi Code Annotated (1972, as amended).

The Defendant was the step-father of C.M. and J.M.

i

The allegations came to light when J.M. told his father, Ryan Miller, that the Defendant "would hold him down and check his oil" by running "his hands down the back of his pants on the inside and stick his finger in his butt." (R. 136). At the time of this statement, J.M. had just turned eleven (11). (R. 136). Ryan Miller contacted the Mississippi Department of Human Services on the evening of the disclosure. (R. 137).

After Ryan Miller has contacted DHS, he stated that C.M. told him that the Defendant would "check his oil" too. (R. 138). At the time of this statement, C.M. was eight (8) years old. (R. 140). C.M. is half-brother of J.M. (R. 141).

On November 7, 2006, DHS sent their report regarding C.M. and J.M. to Detective James Thompson of the Pearl Police Department. (R. 231). Upon receipt of the report, Detective Thompson contacted Judge Shirley of the Pearl Youth Court, who issued a no-contact order and scheduled an emergency hearing regarding C.M. and J.M. (R. 231). C.M. and J.M. were placed in the custody of Ryan Miller.

÷.

1

As part of his investigation into the allegations of C.M. and J.M., Detective Thompson set up an interview for both C.M. and J.M. with the Children's Advocacy Center (CAC) in Jackson. (R. 233).

At the initial interview at CAC, neither C.M. or J.M. disclosed any allegations of abuse at the hands of the Defendant. (R. 235).

Approximately one month after the initial interview at CAC, Detective Thompson received a phone call from Ryan Miller who stated that "[J.M. was ready to tell the truth." (R. 236). As a result of this phone call and a meeting with J.M., Detective Thompson set up a second interview with CAC located in Rankin County. (R. 236).

At this second interview conducted by Brian Ervin, on January 4, 2007, both C.M. and J.M. disclosed to Mr. Ervin allegations of sexual abuse by the Defendant. (R. 292.)

As a result of the statements of C.M. and J.M., the Defendant was Indicted by the Grand Jury of Rankin County, Mississippi on two Counts of Sexual Battery.

On September 23, 2008, the cause came on for trial by jury in the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi on the charges of two counts of Sexual Battery.

After a three day trial, the case was submitted to the jury for deliberations. (R. 442). At the conclusion of their deliberations, the Jury reached a verdict on both counts of the Indictment finding the Defendant, Tommy Junior McCrory, Guilty as to both Counts. (R. 443-444).

Accordingly, the Defendant herein appeals his convictions to this Honorable Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. There was insufficient proof, is any, to show that the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi had jurisdiction of the parties and subject matter in this case, as it pertains to C.M., in that there was no testimony or evidence regarding the place or places where the alleged acts occurred. There is no proof whatsoever that the alleged acts took place in Rankin County, Mississippi. If the Rankin County Circuit Court was without jurisdiction in this matter, then the sentence in this case is unlawful and must be vacated.

II. As a basic principle of law, the alleged victim in this matter, C.M., failed to identify the Defendant, Tommy Junior McCrory, in the courtroom during the trial in this matter as the alleged perpetrator and as such, the Defendant was not only entitled to a directed verdict as to the charges involving C.M., but there was insufficient evidence for any competent jury to find Mr. McCrory guilty of the charges lodged against him by C.M.

III. Allowing expert witness Brian Ervin to directly comment on the credibility and veracity of both C.M. and J.M. was reversible error.

IV. Allowing the hearsay testimony of Detective James Thompson was reversible error.

V. The trial court's finding that C.M. and J.M.'s statements to Ryan Miller bore substantial indicia of reliability is not supported by substantial evidence. Furthermore, the trial court did not follow the proper procedure in its determination, and abuses its discretion in finding that C.M. and J.M.'s statements bore indicia of reliability and in admitting their statements through Ryan Miller pursuant to the tender years exception. Miss. R. Evid. 803(25).

ŝ.

ARGUMENT:

I. THERE IS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI DID HAD JURISDICTION OF SUBJECT MATTER IN THIS CASE AS IT PERTAINS TO C.M..

In a criminal case, venue is jurisdictional, must be proved, and may be raised for the first time on appeal. Crum v. State, 216 Miss. 780, 788, 63 So.2d 242, 245 (1953). The venue of a criminal offense is in the county where the crime was committed, unless otherwise provided by law. Miss.Code Ann. § 99-11-3(1) (Rev.2000). Proof of jurisdiction may be shown either by direct or circumstantial evidence. Smith v. State, 646 So.2d 538, 541 (Miss.1994). In the case as bar, there was no showing that the alleged acts pertaining to C.M. herein occurred in Rankin County, Mississippi.

No testimony was elicited from C.M., as to the exact date(s) and place(s) of occurrence of the alleged acts of the Defendant. The testimony that was elicited from C.M. asked him where he lived when this allegedly happened, not where did it happen.

At trial, the testimony of C.M. was as follows:

- Q. Where did you live when it happened?
- A. I was living with my grandmother. Then me and Jeremy moved to Pearl with my mom and Tommy.
- Q. The times that you were living with your grandmother, would you go visit your mom and Tommy too?
- A. Mainly my mom, but Tommy was mainly there.

(R. 104).

١

Ι.

C.M. did not state where the alleged acts took place, if they took place in his

grandmother's home, or if they took place at his mother's home. There simply was no testimony whatsoever from C.M. to establish that the alleged acts occurred in Rankin County, Mississippi.

To further illustrate this point, on Cross Examination, at trial, the testimony of C.M. was as follows:

Q. ... Now you said that Tommy did some bad things to you, right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you remember where that occurred?

A. No, sir.

Q. You don't remember where it occurred?

A. No, sir.

(R. 110).

1,

As such, the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi was without jurisdiction of the subject matter of this criminal case against Mr. McCrory as it pertains to the charges by C.M., and the sentence in this case should be vacated and the charges against him dismissed in toto.

II. THE CHARGES AGAINST DEFENDANT REGARDING C.M. MUST BE REVERSED SINCE THE ALLEGED VICTIM, C.M., WAS UNABLE TO IDENTIFY MCCRORY AS THE ALLEGED PERPETRATOR.

It is irrefutable that C.M. failed to identify the Defendant, Tommy Junior McCrory, in the

Courtroom at the trial in this matter.

At trial, the testimony of C.M. was as follows:

- Q. Since all this happened and y'all told about it, have you seen Tommy?
- A. No, ma'am.
- Q. Do you see him in the courtroom today, Christopher?

A. No, ma'am.

Q. I need you to stand up and look around for me.

A. No, ma'am.

(R. 105).

ł

No previous lineups, out-of-court identifications, or photo-lineups were used in this matter and the legal precedent regarding such is irrelevant here. As a basic principle of law, the alleged victim in this matter, C.M., failed to identify the Defendant, Tommy Junior McCrory, in the courtroom during the trial in this matter as the alleged perpetrator and as such, the Defendant was not only entitled to a directed verdict as to the charges involving C.M., but there was insufficient evidence for any competent jury to find Mr. McCrory guilty of the charges lodged against him by C.M.

Due to C.M.'s failure to identify the Defendant herein, the sentence against him as they relate to C.M., must be vacated and the charges dismissed.

III. ALLOWING EXPERT WITNESS BRIAN ERVIN TO DIRECTLY COMMENT ON THE CREDIBILITY AND VERACITY OF BOTH C.M. AND J.M. WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR.

It is well settled that under Rule 702 "experts called to testify about behavioral characteristics that may affect an alleged victim's credibility may not give an opinion of the credibility of a particular witness." *Hobgood v. State*, 926 So.2d 847 (Miss. 2006) *(quoting Goodson v. State*, 566 So.2d 1142, 1153 (Miss.1990)).

In this case, not only did the tendered expert witness, Brian Ervin, opine about the credibility of both C.M. and J.M., but he did so in response to the State's direct question as to the credibility of the witnesses.

At trial, the testimony of Brian Ervin was as follows:

- Q. (By Ms. Purnell) At the conclusion of interviews, let's take Christopher first, did you find his disclosure of sexual abuse at the hands of Mr. McCrory credible?
- A. He gave details and descriptions that added credibility to his report.
- Q. For example?

ţ

÷

f

i

İ.

1.

- A. For example, exactly what happened, describing how the touch occurred inside of the clothing. He uses his own terminology saying the - I don't want to misquote him. He said, "Putting his finger right up my butt hole." He stated in his words, "It was painful." And then another comment, "It felt like a needle going up my butt hole."
- Q. What about Jeremy, did you find his disclosure credible?
- A. Jeremy told me, on the same lines, details of multiple incidents when this occurred, descriptive on exactly what occurred with saying how and where he was touched, that it was inside of his clothing. Also adding credibility to Jeremy's report was the fact that he appeared to have more reason not to disclose abuse than to disclose abuse. You saw the video. He was so distraught about being there that he would hardly look at me. This is very common with young boys who have been sexually abused. They are very ashamed by it. They are very concerned about what the other person in the room is thinking about them. I've had -- not in this one -- but I've had numerous interviews where I've had children ask me, "Does this mean I'm gay?" Little boys ask me that. It causes them just a bunch of feelings and emotions that at their young age they're really not capable of dealing with. In this situation I think all that expressed in the way he was leaned down, the way he talked, the way his voice carried, the fact that he even said he was afraid his mother was going to be mad at him for telling. He had more reason not to disclose this abuse than to disclose this abuse, and to me that adds great credibility to his report.

(R. 294-295.

In this case the court abused its discretion and improperly allowed Ervin to comment on

C.M. and J.M.'s credibility and veracity regarding the allegations of abuse.

This case is distinguishable from Hobgood v. State, 926 So.2d 847 (Miss.2006) wherein a

trial court's decision to allow testimony as to the credibility of a child-abuse victim was upheld.

In the Hobgood case, a psychotherapist, tendered as an expert, was asked if he found the child

victim credible. Hobgood, 926 So.2d at 854. "The expert replied "yes" and explained that the

victim's account of the abuse was always consistent and physical evidence supported the child's statements." *Branch v. State*, 998 So.2d 411, 415-416 (Miss.2008) (citing *Hobgood*, 926 So.2d at 854).

In contrast, in the case at bar, Mr. Ervin goes beyond the realm accepted by this Court in *Hobgood* in that Ervin comments on the veracity of J.M. by stating "that he appeared to have more reason not to disclose that to disclose abuse, and to me that adds great credibility to his report." (R. 294-295). Ervin further comments on the veracity of J.M. by pointing out that "I think all that expressed in the way he was leaned down, the way he talked, the way his voice carried, the fact that he even said he was afraid his mother was going to be mad at him for telling." (*Id.*)

Ervin does not testify as to the consistency of the statement of C.M., as was done by the expert in *Hobgood*, but rather testifies that he believed C.M. to be credible from the child's descriptions, terminology, and comments. (R. 294).

The testimony of Ervin, although using the word credibility, was actually commentary on the truthfulness of C.M. and J.M. he perceived from his interview, and as such, these comments go beyond that which acceptable and their admission amounts to an abuse of discretion and reversible error herein.

IV. ALLOWING THE HEARSAY TESTIMONY OF DETECTIVE JAMES THOMPSON WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR.

On Direct Examination, Detective James Thompson, was allowed, over the objection of the Defendant, to state hearsay testimony regarding what was said, allegedly, by C.M., J.M., and/or their mother, the record is unclear as to who exactly made the statement to the Detective.

At trial, the testimony of Detective James Thompson was as follows:

Q. Tell the jury what happened at that CAC interview?

1.

- A. You want me to tell what led up to that and then what happened there?
- Q. Let's advise the jury of what led up to that meeting from Youth Court that y'all were required to go to CAC for an interview, who all went, and just talk us through that day's events?
- A. As an adult and as a police officer, my job is to protect kids. Well, during that hearing at Youth Court, the mother had made a comment in open court that it was just a game.

MR. DORSEY: Your Honor, I object to hearsay.

.

1.

1

MR. MILLER: It's not being offered for the truth of the matter.

THE COURT: Overfuled. It's not offered for the truth of the matter. You may answer.

A. That this was just a game and it was something that had been passed on from generation to generation, and that bothered me. Then I also learned that the kids were told not to tell because mom didn't want Tommy to go to jail because he was the provider in the household. So we leave Youth Court. Naturally as a human being and as a father, I was fuming. So I drove to Jackson and got to CAC. When I got there, I got the mother to come outside on the sidewalk there and I let her have it. Whether that be right or wrong, the kids overheard me and seen me, and I guess they were upset that not only was the provider in the household in trouble, but now mom is in trouble because of things she's said. So they didn't disclose as CAC that day because of me.

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