## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TOMMY JUNIOR MCCRORY

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-0290

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

## BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY HAD JURISDICTION OF THE CASE AT BAR
- 2. THAT THE FACT THAT C.M. COULD NOT IDENTIFY THE APPELLANT AT TRIAL AS THE PERPETRATOR DID NOT REQUIRE THE TRIAL COURT TO DIRECT A VERDICT OF ACQUITTAL WITH RESPECT TO COUNT 1 OF THE INDICTMENT
- 3. THAT THE THIRD ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT; THAT ERROR, IF ERROR, IN THE ADMISSION OF A CERTAIN PART OF THE WITNESS ERVIN'S TESTIMONY WAS HARMLESS

- 4. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN THE ADMISSION OF CERTAIN TESTIMONY BY THE WITNESS THOMPSON
- 5. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING THE WITNESS MILLER'S TESTIMONY UNDER M.R.E. 803(25)

#### ARGUMENT

## 1. THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY HAD JURISDICTION OF THE CASE AT BAR

In the First Assignment of Error, the Appellant claims that the State failed to establish venue. In an effort to give color to this surprising claim, the Appellant points to the testimony of one of the victims, C.M.. It is said that C.M. could not state whether the acts committed against him were committed in his mother's home or his grandmother's home. It is said that C.M. testified that he did not know where they occurred. There was no objection at trial to the effect that the State failed to establish venue.

#### This Court has held:

In criminal cases, venue is jurisdictional, must be proved, and may be raised for the first time on appeal." *Hensley v. State*, 912 So.2d 1083, 1086 (Miss.Ct.App.2005). The State bears the burden of proving venue beyond a reasonable doubt. *Hill v. State*, 797 So.2d 914, 916 (Miss.2001). Venue may be proven by direct and circumstantial evidence. *Hensley*, 912 So.2d at 1086. Where there is sufficient evidence to lead a reasonable trier of fact to conclude that part or all of the crime occurred in the county where the case is being tried, then evidence of venue is sufficient. *Hill*, 797 So.2d at 916.

McBride v. State, 934 So.2d 1033, 1035 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). It has also been held that this Court may take judicial notice of the county in which a city of this State is located. *Thomas v. State*, 784 So.2d 247, 251 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

It may be that C.M. did not testify where the acts committed against his person by the Appellant occurred. However, the record clearly establishes those acts occurred in Rankin

County. The witness Thompson established venue, as did the witness Sheppard and the victims' mother. There were was much testimony about the fact that the acts committed by the Appellant occurred in Pearl. Even if there had not been a specific reference to Rankin County, the jurors would surely have known that Pearl is located in Rankin County. This Court may, in any event, notice that fact.

The fact that C.M. did not or could not testify as to venue is a matter of no consequence in view of the fact that the other witnesses clearly put the house or houses where the acts occurred in Rankin County. J.M. was present at the time C.M. was battered. J.M. and C.M lived together during the time the Appellant committed his acts against them. There is nothing in the record to demonstrate or suggest that the Appellant committed his acts against C.M. in some other county of the State. While there may have been some small and ultimately inconsequential question as to whether the acts occurred at a house or at an apartment or at both, these places were in Rankin County. Venue was sufficiently established. *Hensley v. State*, 912 So.2d 1083 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

While not stated explicitly, it appears that it is the Appellant's notion that proof of venue must be made by a victim of a crime. We say this because the Appellant ignores the testimony concerning venue, presented through other witnesses, and points only to C.M.'s testimony in his argument here. He asserts that his conviction for the sexual battery of C.M. must fail because C.M. did not or could not establish venue. There is no authority of which we are aware for such a notion, and none presented by the Appellant. Nor, if there were such a rule, could we imagine the existence of a good reason for it. We might observe that such a rule, if it existed, would have devastating consequences in homicide cases or in other cases in which the victim was for some

reason other than death unable to testify.

The First Assignment of Error is without merit.

# 2. THAT THE FACT THAT C.M. COULD NOT IDENTIFY THE APPELLANT AT TRIAL AS THE PERPETRATOR DID NOT REQUIRE THE TRIAL COURT TO DIRECT A VERDICT OF ACQUITTAL WITH RESPECT TO COUNT 1 OF THE INDICTMENT

As set out in our "Statement of Facts," C.M. was unable to identify the Appellant at trial as the person who sexually battered him. Detective Thompson, though, testified that the Appellant's appearance had changed since the time the Appellant's actions came to light. J.M. did identify the Appellant as the perpetrator.

C.M. testify that "Tommy" sexually battered J.M. and him. He also knew that this "Tommy" was the father of his mother's latest child. He knew that "Tommy" was or had been married to his mother. He did not like "Tommy" because of what "Tommy" had done to him.

(R. Vol. 2, pp. 103 - 104). Nonetheless, the Appellant says that because C.M., six years of age at the time these things were done to him and nine years of age at the time of trial (R. Vol. 2, pg. 106), was unable to identify the Appellant at trial, a directed verdict should have been granted as to the count of the indictment concerning C.M.

The Appellant presents no authority to support his claim that the trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict as to count 1 of the indictment on account of C.M.'s inability to identify the Appellant. He claims that there is a "basic principle of law" involved (Brief for the Appellant, at 8), but he has not troubled himself to state what that principle might be or where it might be found. The Second Assignment of Error is for that reason abandoned. *Wall v. State*, 883 So.2d 617, 619 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). Besides this, we note that the C.M.'s failure to identify the Appellant at trial was not a point raised by the Appellant in his motion for a directed

verdict. (R. Vol. 4, pp. 320 - 321). Nor was this point raised in the post - trial motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 82 - 83). Since the specific point embraced by the Second Assignment of Error was not raised in the court below, it may not be raised here. *Moore v. State*, 958 So.2d 824, 830 - 831 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

We have found no decision in which the fact that a victim was unable to identify the perpetrator of the crime committed against himself was for that reason alone sufficient to require the granting of a directed verdict. On the other hand, the Court has rejected such an argument in cases in which there was testimony as to the identity of the perpetrator from other witnesses.

Anderson v. State, 5 So.2d 3<sup>rd</sup> 1088, 1096 fn. 4 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

C.M. testified as to the Appellant's name. J.M. identified the Appellant at trial and described what the Appellant had done. J.M. further testified that C.M. saw what the Appellant did to him. Other witnesses, including C.M.'s mother, established the Appellant's connection with C.M. The detective explained that the Appellant's appearance at trial was different from the time C.M. would have last saw him. Taking these considerations together, this is not a case in which the State simply failed to present sufficient evidence of identity. The fact that the child could not himself recognize the Appellant in his altered appearance was no reason for a directed verdict.

The Second Assignment of Error is without merit.

## 3. THAT THE THIRD ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT; THAT ERROR, IF ERROR, IN THE ADMISSION OF A CERTAIN PART OF THE WITNESS ERVIN'S TESTIMONY WAS HARMLESS

Brian Ervin was qualified as an expert witness in the field of forensic interviewing. He interviewed C.M. and J.M., and in the course of that interview the victims related what the Appellant had done to them. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 284 - 297).

At one point, in the direct examination of the witness, the prosecutor asked the witness whether the witness found C.M.'s disclosure of the sexual battery committed by the Appellant to be credible. Without objection by the defense, the witness detailed the behaviors exhibited by the victims that tended to demonstrate their accounts as being credible. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 294 - 295).

Since there was no objection to this testimony by the defense, the Appellant may not now complain of the admission of that testimony. *Golden v. State*, 984 So.2d 1026, 1033 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

Assuming that it would have been error to permit this testimony into evidence, had the defense entered a proper and contemporaneous objection, and such error would have been harmless. The victims testified in the case at bar, thereby permitting the jury to come to its own determination as to how credible their account was. That being so, any error in this regard was harmless. *Lattimer v. State*, 952 So.2d 206, 222 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

Finally, while it is true that the prosecutor asked the witness whether he found the victims' disclosures to be credible, we do not find that the witness stated his opinion concerning their credibility. He did indeed discuss the victims' behaviors and the way they responded to questions, stating that those tended to make their disclosures more credible, but he did not directly express an opinion as to whether the children were credible.

The Third Assignment of Error is without merit.

## 4. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN THE ADMISSION OF CERTAIN TESTIMONY BY THE WITNESS THOMPSON

In the Fourth Assignment of Error, the Appellant cites a portion of Detective Thompson's testimony, in which the detective was asked to testify to certain statements heard by him during a

Youth Court hearing, and asserts that his testimony on the point was inadmissible hearsay. There was an objection; the trial court overruled the objection, stating that the response sought to the question put by the prosecutor was not for the truth of the matter. The detective described what occurred and then attempted to testify that it was because of the confrontation between the victims' mother and himself, witnessed by the victims, that the interview was aborted. An objection to that attempted testimony was sustained on the ground that it was the witness' speculation. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 234 - 235).

Hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. M.R.E. 801(c). When the complete line of questioning is considered, we think it is fairly obvious that the prosecutor was not attempting to have the detective testify as to the truth of the statements he heard—that the Appellant's actions were just a game and that the mother did not want the Appellant imprisoned because he was the provider in the household. The purpose of the question was to explain why the detective did what he did. He "lost his cool," as they say, and confronted the mother. It is clear that the prosecutor's purpose was to put this into evidence to explain why the victims did were not interviewed as scheduled. In the end, the trial court ruled that the detective's speculation that it was the confrontation between the mother and himself that disrupted the planned interview was inadmissible. But it is clear that the purpose of the testimony by the detective as to what he heard was not offered for the truth of the matter, but only to explain why the interview did not occur.

Testimony of this kind is admissible, as against a hearsay objection. *E.g. Neal v. State*, 15 So.3rd 388, 404 (Miss. 2009). The truth of the statements heard by the detective was immaterial. What was material was that what he heard caused him to do certain things,

regardless of the truth of the statements. Statements offered for this purpose are not hearsay.

In the event this Court should find that the trial court erred in admitting this testimony, any such error is harmless error. The substance of those statements – that the Appellant's acts were a game and that the mother did not want the Appellant to go to prison – was established by other witnesses. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 116 -118; Vol. 3, 171). Since what the detective testified about was otherwise properly admitted, any error in permitting his testimony was harmless. *Brown v. State*, 868 So.2d 1027 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

The Fourth Assignment of Error is without merit.

## 5. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING THE WITNESS MILLER'S TESTIMONY UNDER M.R.E. 803(25)

In his final assignment of error, the Appellant asserts that the trial court erred in permitting J.M.'s father to testify to certain statements made by J.M. to him.

There was a hearing outside the presence of the jury concerning this issue. In that hearing, Miller testified that he was J.M.'s natural father and that he had been appointed guardian for C.M. for a time.

J. M.'s mother told J.M.'s father that J.M. was having problems and that she wanted J.M.'s father to speak to J.M. J.M.'s father took J.M. to a Wendy's restaurant to speak with him. J.M. told his father what the Appellant had been doing to him while his father and he were at a Wendy's restaurant. J.M. was eleven years of age at the time. J.M.'s father had no idea that J.M. was going to make such a disclosure before J.M. did so. J.M. and his father were both upset. When J.M. made this disclosure to his father, his father asked him whether he had told anyone about the matter. J.M. replied that he had told his mother but that his mother did not believe him and that no one would do anything to help him. When J.M.'s father stated that he was going to

contact law enforcement, J.M. asked him not to do so, J.M. being afraid of what would happen after he went home. J.M.'s father contacted the Department of Human Services that evening.

C.M. told J.M.'s father about what the Appellant was doing some time after he began living with J.M.'s father, and after the aborted interview. J.M.'s father did not initiate or elicit information from C.M.

J.M. did not make a disclosure at the first interview. J.M. later told his father that he was lying at the first interview. They boys became upset when they found out that they were going to visit with their mother and the Appellant. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 135 - 149).

The trial court, through its questions to the witness, got a focused and clarified account of what the boys told the witness and the circumstances under which they made the disclosures.

J.M. made his disclosure at Wendy's restaurant. J.M.'s mother wanted J.M's father to speak to J.M. because J.M. was having trouble in school and at home. J.M. told his father what the Appellant had been doing to him. When his father asked whether J.M. had told his mother, J.M. replied that he had but that his mother told J.M. that the Appellant made five hundred dollars a week and that she could not do without the Appellant. J.M. also told his grandmother, but she thought it was a joke, something of a "family tradition." J.M. did not want his father to contact law enforcement for fear of what would happen to him. The only persons part of the conversation at Wendy's were J.M. and his father.

Sometime later J.M.'s father had a conversation with C.M. not long after the aborted interview and when the boys found out about visitation with their mother and the Appellant. C.M. was about eight years of age at the time. C.M. also revealed the Appellant's acts of "checking the oil." C.M. brought these things out on his own. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 151 - 160).

The trial court found that the statements by the children made to J.M.'s father would be

admissible under M.R.E. 803(25). While the trial court did not make specific findings on each and every factor, it did state that it had taken those factors into consideration in reaching its decision. Given the time, content and circumstances of the statements, the court was satisfied that the State had sufficiently demonstrated their reliability. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 165).

A claim of error based upon the admission of testimony under Rule 803(25) is analyzed under an abuse - of - discretion standard. *Bishop v. State*, 982 So.2d 371 (Miss. 2008).

The Appellant focuses on several of the factors to be considered by a trial court when admission of testimony is sought under Rule 803(25) and claims that the testimony in support of admission did not establish those factors. We will point out that these particular points raised by the Appellant here were not raised in the trial court. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 163 - 165). That being so, the Appellant should not be heard here to claim error on a claim of lack of evidence on those points. There is, in any event, no merit in these claims.

## Apparent motive of declarant to lie and timing of the statements

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